
Thurrock: A place of opportunity, enterprise and excellence, where
individuals, communities and businesses flourish

Extraordinary meeting of Council

To the Members of Thurrock Council

The next meeting of the Council will be held at 7.00 pm on 
27 September 2017

Council Chamber, Civic Offices, New Road, Grays, Essex, RM17 
6SL

Membership of the Council:

Tunde Ojetola (Mayor)
Michael Stone (Deputy Mayor)

Tim Aker
John Allen
Chris Baker
James Baker
Jan Baker
Clare Baldwin
Russell Cherry
Colin Churchman
Gary Collins
Mark Coxshall
Jack Duffin
Tony Fish
Leslie Gamester
Oliver Gerrish
Robert Gledhill
Garry Hague

James Halden
Graham Hamilton
Shane Hebb
Clifford Holloway
Victoria Holloway
Deborah Huelin
Roy Jones
Tom Kelly
Cathy Kent
John Kent
Martin Kerin
Steve Liddiard
Brian Little
Susan Little
Sue MacPherson
Ben Maney

Bukky Okunade
Terry Piccolo
Jane Pothecary
David Potter
Joycelyn Redsell
Barbara Rice
Gerard Rice
Sue Sammons
Angela Sheridan
Peter Smith
Graham Snell
Luke Spillman
Pauline Tolson
Aaron Watkins
Kevin Wheeler

Lyn Carpenter 
Chief Executive

Agenda published on: 19 September 2017





Agenda

Open to Public and Press
Page

1  Apologies for absence 

2  Declaration of Interests

To receive any declaration of interests from Members.

3  Electoral Cycle 7 - 66

Queries regarding this Agenda or notification of apologies:

Please contact Jenny Shade, Senior Democratic Services Officer by sending an 
email to Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk

Future Dates of Council: 

25 October 2017, 29 November 2017, 31 January 2018, 28 February 2018 (Budget) 
and 30 May 2018 (Annual Council)



This page is intentionally left blank



Information for members of the public and councillors

Access to Information and Meetings

Members of the public can attend all meetings of the council and its committees and 
have the right to see the agenda, which will be published no later than 5 working days 
before the meeting, and minutes once they are published.

Recording of meetings

This meeting may be recorded for transmission and publication on the Council's 
website. At the start of the meeting the Chair will confirm if all or part of the meeting is 
to be recorded.
Members of the public not wishing any speech or address to be recorded for 
publication to the Internet should contact Democratic Services to discuss any 
concerns.
If you have any queries regarding this, please contact Democratic Services at 
Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk

Guidelines on filming, photography, recording and use of social media at 
council and committee meetings

The council welcomes the filming, photography, recording and use of social media at 
council and committee meetings as a means of reporting on its proceedings because 
it helps to make the council more transparent and accountable to its local 
communities.
If you wish to film or photograph the proceedings of a meeting and have any special 
requirements or are intending to bring in large equipment please contact the 
Communications Team at CommunicationsTeam@thurrock.gov.uk before the 
meeting. The Chair of the meeting will then be consulted and their agreement sought 
to any specific request made.
Where members of the public use a laptop, tablet device, smart phone or similar 
devices to use social media, make recordings or take photographs these devices 
must be set to ‘silent’ mode to avoid interrupting proceedings of the council or 
committee.
The use of flash photography or additional lighting may be allowed provided it has 
been discussed prior to the meeting and agreement reached to ensure that it will not 
disrupt proceedings.
The Chair of the meeting may terminate or suspend filming, photography, recording 
and use of social media if any of these activities, in their opinion, are disrupting 
proceedings at the meeting.

Page 1

mailto:Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk
mailto:CommunicationsTeam@thurrock.gov.uk


Thurrock Council Wi-Fi

Wi-Fi is available throughout the Civic Offices. You can access Wi-Fi on your device 
by simply turning on the Wi-Fi on your laptop, Smartphone or tablet.

 You should connect to TBC-CIVIC

 Enter the password Thurrock to connect to/join the Wi-Fi network.

 A Terms & Conditions page should appear and you have to accept these before 
you can begin using Wi-Fi. Some devices require you to access your browser to 
bring up the Terms & Conditions page, which you must accept.

The ICT department can offer support for council owned devices only.

Evacuation Procedures

In the case of an emergency, you should evacuate the building using the nearest 
available exit and congregate at the assembly point at Kings Walk.

How to view this agenda on a tablet device

You can view the agenda on your iPad, Android Device or Blackberry 
Playbook with the free modern.gov app.

Members of the Council should ensure that their device is sufficiently charged, 
although a limited number of charging points will be available in Members Services.

To view any “exempt” information that may be included on the agenda for this 
meeting, Councillors should:

 Access the modern.gov app
 Enter your username and password

Page 2

https://itunes.apple.com/gb/app/mod.gov/id508417355?mt=8
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en
http://appworld.blackberry.com/webstore/content/26429152/?lang=en&countrycode=GB
http://appworld.blackberry.com/webstore/content/26429152/?lang=en&countrycode=GB


DECLARING INTERESTS FLOWCHART – QUESTIONS TO ASK YOURSELF

Breaching those parts identified as a pecuniary interest is potentially a criminal offence

Helpful Reminders for Members

 Is your register of interests up to date? 
 In particular have you declared to the Monitoring Officer all disclosable pecuniary interests? 
 Have you checked the register to ensure that they have been recorded correctly? 

When should you declare an interest at a meeting?

 What matters are being discussed at the meeting? (including Council, Cabinet, 
Committees, Subs, Joint Committees and Joint Subs); or 

 If you are a Cabinet Member making decisions other than in Cabinet what matter is 
before you for single member decision?

Does the business to be transacted at the meeting 
 relate to; or 
 likely to affect 

any of your registered interests and in particular any of your Disclosable Pecuniary Interests? 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests shall include your interests or those of:

 your spouse or civil partner’s
 a person you are living with as husband/ wife
 a person you are living with as if you were civil partners

where you are aware that this other person has the interest.

A detailed description of a disclosable pecuniary interest is included in the Members Code of Conduct at Chapter 7 of 
the Constitution. Please seek advice from the Monitoring Officer about disclosable pecuniary interests.

What is a Non-Pecuniary interest? – this is an interest which is not pecuniary (as defined) but is nonetheless so  
significant that a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts, would reasonably regard to be so significant 
that it would materially impact upon your judgement of the public interest.

If the Interest is not entered in the register and is not the subject of a 
pending notification you must within 28 days notify the Monitoring Officer 
of the interest for inclusion in the register 

Unless you have received dispensation upon previous 
application from the Monitoring Officer, you must:
- Not participate or participate further in any discussion of 

the matter at a meeting; 
- Not participate in any vote or further vote taken at the 

meeting; and
- leave the room while the item is being considered/voted 

upon
If you are a Cabinet Member you may make arrangements for 
the matter to be dealt with by a third person but take no further 
steps

If the interest is not already in the register you must 
(unless the interest has been agreed by the Monitoring 

Officer to be sensitive) disclose the existence and nature 
of the interest to the meeting

Declare the nature and extent of your interest including enough 
detail to allow a member of the public to understand its nature

Non- pecuniaryPecuniary

You may participate and vote in the usual 
way but you should seek advice on 
Predetermination and Bias from the 

Monitoring Officer.

Page 3



PROCEDURE FOR MOTIONS

No speech may exceed 3 minutes without the consent of the Mayor [Rule 19.8], 
except for the proposer of any motion who shall have 5 minutes to move that motion 

(except on a motion to amend where the 3 minute time shall apply) [Rule 19.8(a)]

All Motions will follow Section A and then either Section B or C

A. A1 Motion is moved [Rule 19.2]
A2 Mover speaks     [Rule 19.8(a) (5 minutes)
A3 Seconded      [Rule 19.2] 
A4 Seconder speaks or reserves right to speak [Rule 19.3] (3 minutes)

Then the procedure will move to either B or C below:

B.

IF there is an AMENDMENT (please 
see Rule 19.23)

C.

If NOT amended i.e. original motion

B1 The mover of the amendment shall 
speak (3 mins).

C1 Debate

B2 The seconder of the amendment 
shall speak unless he or she has 
reserved their speech (3 mins).

C2 If the seconder of the motion has 
reserved their speeches, they shall 
then speak

B3 THEN debate on the subject. C3 The mover of the substantive 
motion shall have the final right of 
reply

B4 If the seconder of the substantive 
motion and the amendment 
reserved their speeches, they shall 
then speak 

C4 Vote on motion

B5 The mover of the amendment shall 
have a right of reply 

B6 The mover of the substantive 
motion shall have the final right of 
reply 

B7 Vote on amendment 

B8 A vote shall be taken on the 
substantive motion, as amended if 
appropriate, without further debate 

Page 4



Vision: Thurrock: A place of opportunity, enterprise and excellence, where individuals, 
communities and businesses flourish.

To achieve our vision, we have identified five strategic priorities:

1. Create a great place for learning and opportunity

 Ensure that every place of learning is rated “Good” or better

 Raise levels of aspiration and attainment so that residents can take advantage of 
local job opportunities

 Support families to give children the best possible start in life

2. Encourage and promote job creation and economic prosperity

 Promote Thurrock and encourage inward investment to enable and sustain growth

 Support business and develop the local skilled workforce they require

 Work with partners to secure improved infrastructure and built environment

3. Build pride, responsibility and respect 

 Create welcoming, safe, and resilient communities which value fairness

 Work in partnership with communities to help them take responsibility for shaping 
their quality of life 

 Empower residents through choice and independence to improve their health and 
well-being

4. Improve health and well-being

 Ensure people stay healthy longer, adding years to life and life to years 

 Reduce inequalities in health and well-being and safeguard the most vulnerable 
people with timely intervention and care accessed closer to home

 Enhance quality of life through improved housing, employment and opportunity

5. Promote and protect our clean and green environment 

 Enhance access to Thurrock's river frontage, cultural assets and leisure 
opportunities

 Promote Thurrock's natural environment and biodiversity 

 Inspire high quality design and standards in our buildings and public space

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



27 September 2017 ITEM: 3

Council 

Electoral Cycle 

Wards and communities affected: 
All

Key Decision: 
Key

Report of: Councillor Shane Hebb, Deputy Leader & Cabinet Member for Finance 

Accountable Head of Service: David Lawson, Monitoring Officer

Accountable Director: Lyn Carpenter, Chief Executive

This report is Public

Executive Summary

The purpose of this report is to advise Council on the outcome of consultation on a 
possible move from elections by thirds to election of the whole-council once every 
four years from May 2018. 

Council is also asked to note the preferred option recommended by General 
Services Committee, further to its work on agreeing the format and nature of the 
consultation and the Committee’s terms of reference, “to make recommendations to 
the Council in respect of any change to the electoral arrangements of the authority.” 

The preferred option recommended by General Services Committee at its meeting 
held on 3 May 2017 was to move to whole-council elections from May 2018.

Council is therefore asked to decide if the electoral cycle for Thurrock Council should 
remain as elections by thirds or change to whole-council elections every four years 
from May 2018.
  
1. Recommendation(s)

1.1 That the Council notes the results of the consultation in relation to the 
election cycle.

1.2 That the Council notes the preferred option recommended by General 
Services Committee is to move to whole-council elections with effect 
from May 2018.

1.3 That the Council decides if the present process of elections by thirds 
should be changed to whole-council elections once every four years 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



from May 2018.

1.4 If the Council chooses to change the electoral cycle to whole-council 
elections once every four years, the Council authorises the Director of 
Law and Governance to issue the necessary public information leaflet 
as required by the legislation and undertake any further actions 
necessary to give effect to the content of this report.

2. Introduction and Background

2.1 On 27 July 2016, pursuant to a report to Full Council from the Corporate 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Council resolved that a consultation 
should be undertaken to ascertain public preference for either continuing to 
elect councillors by thirds or move to whole-council elections in May 2018. A 
copy of that report is attached at Appendix 1.

2.2 On 7 December 2016, General Services Committee, in accord with its terms 
of reference, agreed the process, format and detail of a proposed public 
consultation on the principle of changing the Council’s electoral cycle. A copy 
of that report to is attached at Appendix 2. 

2.3 On the 3 May 2017 General Services Committee received a report providing 
an analysis as to the outcome of that public consultation to assist the 
Committee with its remit under paragraph 9 of its terms of reference, “to make 
recommendations to the Council in respect of any change to the electoral 
arrangements for the authority”. A copy of that report and the minutes of the 
resolution and debate are attached at Appendix 3.

2.4 Under the provisions of the Local Government and Public Involvement in
Health Act 2007, councils such as Thurrock that elect by thirds can move to 
whole-council elections by passing a resolution at a special meeting of the
Full Council. The resolution will only be deemed carried if there are two-thirds 
majority of those voting vote in favour of a proposed change to the electoral 
cycle. 

2.5 Therefore if an authority wishes to move from thirds to whole-council 
elections, it must:

a. Consult such persons as it thinks appropriate on the proposed change;
b. Convene a special meeting of Council;
c. Pass a resolution to change by a two-thirds majority of those voting;
d. Publish an explanatory document on the decision and make this available 

for public inspection; and
e. Give notice to the Electoral Commission. 

Page 8



Result of Consultation

2.6 Residents, businesses and organisations were asked whether they would like 
the current system of electing councillors to remain or if it should change to 
once every four years.

2.7 The consultation was open from Monday 9 January to Friday 31 March 2017 
and was promoted in line with the communications plan as agreed at the 
General Services Committee meeting held in December 2016. This included:

 Printed posters in council buildings including libraries and hubs
 Social media posts, with video and link to consultation including Facebook 

advertising 
 An advert each month in the Gazette newspaper
 Information on the front page of the leaflet included in council tax bills
 Press releases
 On the homepage of the council’s website
 Stakeholder engagement – via community forums, CVS and their 

community contacts, CCG and Essex Police, Business Board etc
 Included in e-newsletter with 11,500 subscribers
 Email to all staff and councillors

2.8 After validation, the results of the consultation are as follows:

Total responses 466

3 years out of 4 187 40.1%

Once every 4 years 279 59.9%

2.9 Respondents to the consultation were asked if they would like to offer any 
reasons for their preference. The most frequent reasons given are 
summarised below:

Elections to council for one third of councillors at a time, 3 years out of 
4 (current system)

 Experienced councillors can assist newly elected councillors
 Keeps politicians active
 No dramatic change in the council
 Prevents party with most money dominating
 Current system works well

Elections to council for all councillors at the same time, once every 4 
years (proposed new system)

 Allows for long-term planning and stability and a stable direction of 
travel

 More cost effective to the council

Page 9



 Effective decision making, of which the Executive could be held to 
account after four years

 Maintains political balance through the period
 More public engagement and higher voter turnout 

Timing

2.10 The consultation lasted for a period of 12 weeks; the outcomes have been 
assessed and validated in line with standard procedures for such 
consultations and petitions. The consultation was open rather than using a 
methodology that would ensure the results are statistically representative of 
the Thurrock population. The response rate is therefore low compared to the 
population overall. 

2.11 A report containing the Committee recommendations and the results of the 
consultation needed to be brought to a Special meeting of Full Council no 
later than November 2017 to allow sufficient time for any implementation 
before the May 2018 elections, should there be a recommendation in favour 
of change.

3. Issues, Options and Analysis of Options

3.1 The Council has the option for deciding whether or not to change the electoral 
cycle having taken into account the consultation process followed. 

3.2 The Council is required to follow the process prescribed within the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007. The option not to 
consult was, therefore, not available. 

3.3 It is the role of the General Services Committee under Paragraph 9 of its 
terms of reference, “to make recommendations to the Council in respect of 
any change to the electoral arrangements for the authority.” It is the function 
of Full Council to decide on any change or otherwise at a Special meeting of 
Council, with any decision to change the election cycle requiring a two thirds 
majority. 

4. Reasons for Recommendation

4.1 Having consulted on the proposal for changing the electoral cycle, it is now a 
decision for Full Council as to whether or not the Council wishes to change 
the electoral cycle.

5. Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny, if applicable)

5.1 As set out in the report.

6. Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community 
impact

Page 10



6.1 Becoming an excellent and high performing organisation. 

7. Implications

7.1 Financial

Implications verified by: Laura Last
Management Accountant 

The cost of an election is met by the body or bodies whose representatives 
have been elected and therefore, any occasion where a local election is 
combined with another would see a reduction in costs to the council.

The average cost of an election by thirds, where the costs are not shared with 
any other election, is £180k and so £540k over a four year period.  An all out 
election is estimated at £230k and so would recognise a cost reduction of 
£310k over the same period.

The above would be reduced if combined with any other election whilst it 
should be recognised that all out elections can increase the need for by-
elections and associated costs.

7.2 Legal

Implications verified by: Lindsey Marks
Deputy Monitoring Officer 

The legal implications are addressed in the report as to the requirements of 
the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (as 
amended).

7.3 Diversity and Equality

Implications verified by: David Lawson
Monitoring Officer

None.

7.4 Other implications (where significant) – i.e. Staff, Health, Sustainability, 
Crime and Disorder)

None.

8. Background papers used in preparing the report (including their location 
on the Council’s website or identification whether any are exempt or protected 
by copyright):

Page 11



 The Cycle of Local Government Elections in England – Consultation Paper 
– Electoral Commission (2003)

 The Cycle of Local Government Elections in England – Recommendations 
for change - Electoral Commission (2004)

 The Economic Development and Construction Act 2009
 Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007
 Localism Act 2011
 Local Government Boundary Commission for England – Electoral Reviews 

(2014)

9. Appendices to the report

Appendix 1 – Review of Electoral Arrangements Report to Full Council held 
on 27 July 2016 Council

Appendix 2 – Review of Electoral Arrangements Report to General Service 
Committee held on 7 December 2016

Appendix 3 – Review of Electoral Arrangements – Outcome of Public 
Consultation Report to General Services Committee and relevant minutes 
held 3 May 2017

Report Author:

David Lawson
Monitoring Officer
Law & Governance

Page 12



27 July 2016 ITEM: 6

Council 

Review of Electoral Arrangements

Wards and communities affected: 
All

Key Decision: 
Key

Report of: Cllr Shane Hebb, Cabinet Member for Finance & Corporate Operations

Accountable Head of Service: Fiona Taylor, Director of Law & Governance

Accountable Director: Lyn Carpenter, Chief Executive

This report is Public

Executive Summary

This report provides background information to enable the Council to make a 
decision on the recommendation received from Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee that Full Council should consider consulting with the communities in 
Thurrock on potential changes to the Council’s electoral arrangements.

1. Recommendation(s)

1.1 That a public consultation exercise be undertaken in accordance with 
the statutory requirements, relating to proposals to change the cycle of 
electing councillors to Thurrock Borough Council from elections by 
thirds to whole-Council elections with effect from May 2018.

2. Introduction and Background

2.1 On the 2 February 2016, as part of its planned work programme Corporate 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered an extensive report prepared 
by officers on “Review of Electoral Arrangements and Existing Boundaries”

2.2 This report advised of the ability of the council to change its electoral cycle 
and opt for whole-council elections, rather than by the current method of 
election by thirds. It also set out in detail the issues and options associated 
with moving to whole-council elections, the notional costs/savings of such a 
change together with the relative advantages and disadvantages of each 
method of conducting elections. The Committee were asked to consider the 
information provided and decide whether a change to the current electoral 
cycle should be recommended. The full Committee report and relevant minute 
may be found at Appendix 1 of this report. 

                         APPENDIX 1

Page 13



Whole-Council Elections

2.3 At present the Council is elected by thirds, with one third of the councillors 
elected at a time. Under the four-yearly election option, all the seats on the
Council would be up for election at the same time and the Borough Council 
elections would be held once every four years. At a meeting of Council held 
on 22 October 2014, consideration was previously given to a Motion also 
suggesting moving to whole-Council elections, but it was resolved not to 
change the electoral arrangements at that time. As indicated above the 
current recommendation has come forward from the work of Corporate 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee in February 2016.

2.4 The Local Government and Public involvement in Health Act 2007 (“The Act”), 
as amended by the Localism Act 2011, sets out a number of provisions in 
relation to elections including one enabling councils to vary their cycle of 
elections. The Act allows councils that elect by thirds to move to whole-
Council elections. However, the law does not permit councils to move from 
elections by thirds to elections by halves.

2.5 In 2004, the Electoral Commission published a paper entitled “The Cycle of
Local Government Elections in England: Report and Recommendations”.
Although the report is now some years old, the research and 
recommendations are still pertinent to the decision faced by the Council. The 
main arguments for partial/whole-Council elections were identified in the 
Commission’s consultation document (2003) as follows:

For partial elections – the existing status quo:

 More frequent opportunities for electors to exercise their right to vote.
 May facilitate more immediate political accountability, although unlikely to 

make larger; wholesale changes to the council’s ruling administration.
 Tends to produce less drastic changes in political direction, and provide 

greater political continuity.
 May reduce the likelihood that the timing of important or controversial 

decisions are distorted by the timing of elections.

For whole Council elections:

 Greater possibility of wholesale change in control is likely to encourage 
additional voter participation in local elections.

 Too frequent elections might dilute public interest.
 Opportunities for all electors in an area to influence the composition of the 

authority at the same time.
 Encourages greater long-term planning by authorities, and discourage 

continuous election campaigning/regime change.

2.6 The Commission also acknowledged that the costs to local authorities of 
running whole-Council elections would be less than those incurred by holding 
elections by thirds (see paragraph 7 for financial implications).

Page 14



2.7 The Commission concluded that a pattern of whole-Council elections for all 
authorities in England would provide a clear, equitable and easy to 
understand electoral process which would best serve the interests of local 
government electors. The Commission recommended that each local 
authority in England should hold whole-Council elections, with all Councillors 
elected simultaneously, once every four years.

2.8 The Commission has provided information on the electoral cycle of local 
authorities in England, which shows that 38 out of the 56 unitary authorities 
currently have whole-Council elections (over 66% of all unitary councils 
across the borough). All of the London Boroughs and County Councils have 
whole-Council elections and 128 (out of the 201) of the second tier district 
authorities have this form of election. All of the Metropolitan districts are on 
elections by thirds.

2.9 If, the Council was minded to move towards holding four-yearly elections, then 
a public consultation exercise would need to be undertaken before any final 
decision was made. The legislation does not specify the type of consultation 
that should be carried out or how long the consultation process should take.
However, the good practice guidance on consultation exercises suggests that 
a 12 week consultation period would be appropriate. The intention would be to 
use the following forms of consultation:

1. Website – Information about the process to be placed on the website 
with the ability for members of the public to complete an online survey 
(hard copies will be available on request and placed in libraries).

2. Issue press release and use of other communication channels to 
promote the consultation e.g. social media.

3. Consultation with Elected Members, local Members of Parliament.

2.10 Following the conclusion of the consultation period, if it is decided to move to 
all out elections, an Extraordinary meeting of Council will be needed to pass a 
resolution to change to whole-Council elections. There is a requirement that 
the resolution must be passed “by a majority of at least two thirds of the 
Members voting on it” (Section 33 (3) (b) of the 2007 Act). The resolution 
would need to specify the year the elections would be first held.

2.11 If, at the Extraordinary meeting, it is decided to move to whole-Council 
elections, then as soon as reasonably practicable, an explanatory document 
has to be produced setting out details of the new electoral arrangements. In 
addition, the Electoral Commission would need to be advised that the Council 
has passed a resolution to change to all-out elections.

Timing

2.12 The suggested recommendation proposes a move to publically consult about 
potential moves to whole-Council elections which would take effect in 2018. 

Page 15



The Department for Communities and Local Government has confirmed that a 
change in the electoral cycle could take place in any year. 

3. Issues, Options and Analysis of Options

3.1 The Council is not obliged to move to whole-Council elections. The provisions 
in the governing legislation are not prescribed and the Council may choose to 
retain the system of holding elections by thirds should it wish to do so. 
However, the law does not allow the Council to move from elections by thirds 
to elections by halves.

The cost of running local elections

3.2 Under the current system of electing by thirds, the cost of running a local 
election has been estimated as follows:

 Local election, not combined with another election 
(see 2018 on the current timetable of elections)

£200,000

 Local election, combined with another election (see 
2016 and 2019 on the current timetable of elections)

£120,000

 Local election, combined with two other elections (see 
2020 on the current timetable of elections)

£100,000

3.3 The cost of running a whole-council local election has been estimated as 
follows:

 Local election, not combined with another election (for 
example 2017 /18 and 2021 /22 on the proposed 
revised timetable)

£230,000

3.4 If the council moved to whole-council elections from May 2017, and every four 
years thereafter, the next scheduled local election would take place in 2021. It 
should be noted that the local elections would not be combined with the 
Parliamentary elections. 

3.5 It has been estimated that, under the current system of electing by thirds, the 
cost of holding local elections in each applicable year from 2016 to 2021 will 
be in the region of £540,000.

Page 16



Cost 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 Estimate 
cost to 
2020/21

Local - Local Local Local

- - - - General

- - - European -

PCC 
(Police Crime 

and 
Commissioner)

- - - PCC

Cost to 
Local 

Authority

120,000 0 200,000 120,000 100,000 £540,000

Referendum 2016

3.6 The estimated cost of holding local elections in the same time period under a 
whole-council system starting in May 2017 would be in the region of 
£350,000, an estimated saving of £190,000 as shown below:

3.7 The estimated cost of holding local elections in the same time period under a 
whole-council system starting in May 2018  would be in the region of 
£350,000, an estimated saving of £190,000 as shown below:

Cost 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 Estimate 
cost to 
2020/21

Local

(by thirds)

Local (whole 
council)

-

- - - - General

Referendum - European -

PCC - - - PCC

Cost to 
Local 

Authority

120,000 230,000 0 0 0 £350,000

Page 17



By-elections (and associated costs)

3.8 The term of office of a councillor is four years. A by-election is required when 
a vacancy on the council has to be filled between regularly scheduled 
elections.

3.9 The cost of holding a by-election to fill a single vacancy has been estimated in 
previous reports as between £10-12,000.  The recent by election for West 
Thurrock & South Stifford in September 2015 cost approximately £13,000.  A 
by election in a ward with temporary polling stations (for example The 
Homesteads) would be around £20,000. 

West Thurrock & South 
Stifford (2015)

Staffing £4,500
Buildings £550
Postal voting £950
Ballot papers & Postal Packs £1,434
Poll cards & postage £4,358
Miscellaneous £1,000

Total £12,792

Implications of any change on the running and management of already 
scheduled elections

3.10 The practical impact of organising separate elections on the same day needs 
to be considered carefully, particularly if the scale of the local election was to 
increase owing to a move to the full council being elected rather than a third of 
members of the authority.

Cost 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 Estimate 
cost to 
2020/21

Local

(by thirds)

Local 
(whole 
council)

- - - - General

Referendum - European -

PCC - - - PCC

Cost to 
Local 

Authority

120,000 0 230,00 0 0 £350,000

Page 18



3.11 The turnout figures for local elections are likely to be boosted by association 
with a high profile election. However, that association could obscure local 
issues for voters when casting their vote in the local elections.  Whole council 
elections from 2017 or 2018 would not schedule the local elections in line with 
a national election.

3.12 Considerable expertise and organisation will be required to ensure these 
crucial events are run well. The risk to the council’s reputation is substantial, 
so the professionalism and experience of staff in producing a transparent and 
accurate result is crucial.

3.13 A change to the electoral cycle in 2017 or 2018, or a year thereafter, is likely 
to have the following implications:

 There is a high risk of elector confusion, as they will be asked to vote for 
more than one candidate when this has not previously been the case in 
Thurrock. This could cause problems on the day of the election.  However 
Thurrock has many new communities who may be familiar with this 
approach.

 Staff  training will need to be reviewed and resources increased to ensure 
the nomination  process is managed effectively with the increase in 
candidate numbers and a change to ballot papers with voting for more 
than one candidate.  

 The cost of ballot papers will increase due to the increased number of 
candidates and potentially increase the number of ballot boxes required.

 The nomination process and timeframe will require additional staff 
resources to check and input nomination papers.

 Count venue costs and staffing costs may increase due to lengthened 
count process.

 There is a risk of rushing to implement any change in 2017 and 2018 may 
be better.  Electoral Services and electors are adjusting to Individual 
Elector Registration (IER).  Consultation may need to be resourced 
corporately and is likely to involve additional costs.

 Retention of staff knowledge and training on local elections may be difficult 
to sustain with a four year cycle.

 Electors will not be expecting an election in 2017. Considerable publicity 
and resources will be required to highlight a change to the electoral cycle 
and voting process within Thurrock.

4. Reasons for Recommendation

4.1 To respond to the recommendation of Corporate Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee.

5. Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny, if applicable)

5.1 As set out in the report.

Page 19



6. Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community 
impact

6.1 Becoming an excellent and high performing organisation. 

7. Implications

7.1 Financial

Implications verified by: Laura Last
Senior Finance Officer

The cost of an election is met by the body or bodies whose representatives 
have been elected and therefore, any occasion where a local election is 
combined with another would see a reduction in costs to the council.

The costs associated with running an election and a by-election have been 
estimated and are set out in the report. Any move to whole council elections 
would generate an estimated saving of £190,000 over the next 4 years.

Any savings that may be associated with a proposal to change the cycle of 
elections would be dependent upon the year in which the new cycle was to 
commence, as this would determine when local elections may be combined 
with others and therefore see a reduction in costs.

The savings achieved by the proposed changes to the electoral arrangements 
would contribute towards meeting the Council’s budgetary challenges.

7.2 Legal

Implications verified by: Lindsey Marks
Deputy Monitoring Officer 

The legal implications are addressed in the report.

7.3 Diversity and Equality

Implications verified by: David Lawson
Monitoring Officer

None.

7.4 Other implications (where significant) – i.e. Staff, Health, Sustainability, 
Crime and Disorder)

None.

Page 20



8. Background papers used in preparing the report (including their location 
on the Council’s website or identification whether any are exempt or protected 
by copyright):

 The Cycle of Local Government Elections in England – Consultation Paper 
– Electoral Commission (2003)

 The Cycle of Local Government Elections in England – Recommendations 
for change - Electoral Commission (2004)

 The Economic Development and Construction Act 2009
 Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007
 Localism Act 2011
 Local Government Boundary Commission for England – Electoral Reviews 

(2014)

9. Appendices to the report

Appendix 1 – Review of Electoral Arrangements Report – Corporate 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee – February 2016 

Report Author:

David Lawson
Monitoring Officer
Law & Governance

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



2 February 2016 ITEM: 5

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Review of Electoral Arrangements and Existing 
Boundaries
Wards and communities affected: 
All

Key Decision: 
Key

Report of: David Lawson, Deputy Head of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer

Accountable Head of Service: Fiona Taylor, Head of Legal Services 

Accountable Director: Lyn Carpenter, Chief Executive

This report is public

Executive Summary

This report advises of the ability of the council to change its electoral cycle and opt 
for whole-council elections, rather than by the current method of election by thirds. 

Issues and options associated with moving to whole-council elections are set out 
within the report. The notional costs/savings of such a change have also been 
included, together with the relative advantages and disadvantages of each method of 
conducting elections.

The Committee is asked to consider the information provided and decide whether a 
change to the current electoral cycle should be recommended.

The report also provides information on local government boundary reviews.

1. Recommendation(s)

1.1 Members are requested to consider whether to recommend a change to 
the electoral cycle of the council and move to whole-council elections 
every four years, rather than electing by thirds.

1.2 Officers were asked to provide an analysis on the current ward 
boundaries and confirm what Members are legally required to do in 
terms of a boundary review whereby Members will discuss and debate 
the information and make recommendations.

2. Introduction and Background

APPENDIX 1 to Council Report – 27 July 2016 

Page 23



2.1 The Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee reviewed the Election 
Arrangements in Thurrock at its meeting on 20 March 2014, where Committee 
Members resolved to inform and update their respective groups around the 
report and its contents and seek to progress debate on the issue in the new 
municipal year. Minutes of the meeting are attached at Appendix 1 for 
information.

2.2 Subsequently, Councillor Hebb submitted a motion to Full Council on 22 
October 2014 which read as follows and is attached at Appendix 2:

“Thurrock is an area which is thirsty for regeneration, and needs political 
stability to attract investment. It therefore needs to demonstrate a more stable; 
consistent; lower-cost governance system.

Following a number of years of being in No Overall Control (NOC) Thurrock 
Council resolves to investigate and implement a move to a Four Yearly 
Election model”.

2.3 Following debate at the meeting on 22 October 2014 the motion was lost, 
detailed at Appendix 3 (minute number 67 refers). Since this time the matter 
has not been progressed further, however further information is set out for 
Members information and consideration. 

2.4 Section 85 of the Local Government Act 2000 provides principal authorities 
with three options for holding local elections, as set out below:

 whole-council elections, where an election is held every four years and all 
councillors are to be elected

 elections by halves, where an election is held every two years and half of 
the councillors are to be elected on each occasion

 elections by thirds, where elections are held three years out of every four 
and one third of the councillors are to be elected on each occasion.

2.5 Thurrock Council currently elects by thirds and the Committee are therefore 
requested to consider whether to recommend a move towards whole-council 
elections every four years.

2.6 Prior to 2008, the process of changing the electoral cycle of a local authority 
involved seeking approval from the Secretary of State. The Local Government 
and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 made it easier for principal 
authorities to change their electoral arrangements and gave councils the 
opportunity to decide this issue for themselves, subject to certain restrictions 
as to the years the whole-council election could be held.

2.7 Section 24 of the Localism Act 2011 has since amended the provisions in the 
2007 Act and now allows councils that currently elect by thirds or halves to 
resolve, at anytime, to move to whole-council elections.

Page 24



2.8 If the council wishes to move to whole-council elections under Section 32 of 
the 2007 Act, it must carry out the following actions in the order listed:

 Take reasonable steps to consult with such persons as it thinks 
appropriate on the proposed change;

 Convene a special meeting of council;
 Pass a resolution at that special meeting to change the electoral cycle by a 

two thirds majority of those voting. The council must pass the resolution 
before 31 December to allow all-out elections to be held in the following 
May (Section 34);

 Publish an explanatory document on the decision and make this available 
for public inspection (Section 35); and

 Give notice to the Electoral Commission that it has passed the resolution 
(Section 36).

2.9 When seeking to pass such a resolution, Section 24(3) of the Localism Act 
2011 requires the council to specify the year in which it will hold its first 
election and elections will then be held every fourth year thereafter.

2.10 If the council were to seek to change its electoral cycle and move to whole-
council elections, the earliest opportunity for these to be held will be in May 
2017. In order to do this, the council must pass a resolution to do so before 31 
December 2016.

2.11 The council may seek to change its electoral cycle at any time in the future 
and until such time as legislation is amended, must follow the steps set out in 
paragraph 2.8 above.

3. Issues, Options and Analysis of Options

Forthcoming elections in Thurrock

3.1 The scheduled timetable of elections in Thurrock from 2016 to 2020 includes 
the following types of election:

 Local
 Parliamentary
 European Parliamentary
 Police and Crime Commissioner

3.2 There will also be a Referendum called before the end of 2017.  The current 
timetable of elections up to 2020 is set out below:

Page 25



2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

Local - Local Local Local

- - - - General

- - - European -

PCC - - - PCC

Referendum before end 
2017

3.3 Should the cycle of local elections be changed to whole-council elections, for 
example from 2017, the number of local elections required to be held will be 
reduced by three (in 2018/19, 2019/20 and 2020/21). The timetable of 
elections in Thurrock will therefore be as follows:

Strengths and weaknesses of different electoral cycles

3.4 The primary strengths and weakness of the move to whole-council elections, 
rather than elections-by-thirds, are set out below.

Strengths:

 The council has a clear mandate for 4 years, allowing it to adopt a more 
strategic, long term approach to policy and decision making and focus less 
on yearly election campaigning. Indeed, Lord Heseltine’s 2012 report on 
economic growth “No Stone Unturned in Pursuit of Growth” makes a 
strong recommendation for whole Council elections based on his views 
that 4 year term authorities are better placed to take long term strategic 
decisions;

 It avoids election fatigue and the results are simpler and more easily 
understood by the electorate. There would be a clear opportunity for the 

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Local

(by thirds)

Local (whole 
council)

- Local 
(whole-
council)

- - - - General

Possible 
Referendum

Possible 
Referendum 
before end 

2017

- European -

PCC - - - PCC

Page 26



electorate to change the political composition of the council once every 
four years;

 Greater publicity of whole council elections may generate higher turnout. 
The Electoral Commission suggests that electorates associate more 
clearly with whole-council elections;

 It may appear to be cheaper for the council and political parties as well as 
less disruptive to public buildings used as polling stations excluding those 
years where there is a standalone, non local election; and

 Causes less disruption and ensures the council is working 12 months per 
annum not 10 in 3 out of every 4 years when an election is to be held

Weaknesses:

 Electors would lose the opportunity to influence and hold the Council to 
account on an annual basis;

 Smaller parties may find it harder to resource the “whole Council” elections 
process

 It may be harder for independent candidates standing on a matter of strong 
local interest to get elected without an annual poll

 Perceived lack of continuity if there are a lot of new Councillors at one 
election, although this has not been a problem in any councils operating 
the system;

 Higher potential for by-elections;
 Additional cost of consultation on any proposals to change the electoral 

cycle; and
 Additional cost of publicity on the new system and what this means for 

electors.
 Additional cost of whole council election in 2017/18 (unplanned for) and a 

whole council election in 2021/22 will not be part funded by a 
Parliamentary election

 Whole council elections in 2017/18 and 2021/22 will not be assisted by 
national publicity for Parliamentary elections and may not benefit from the 
higher local turnout at these elections.

3.5 The primary strengths and weakness of retaining elections-by-thirds are set 
out below.

Strengths:

 Avoids electing a complete change of councillors with no experience and 
allows continuity of councillors;

 More likely to be influenced by local rather than national politics, and this 
national influence will increase given the trend toward Parliamentary 
elections being held on the same day as local elections;

 Encourages people into the habit of voting, and voting for one person is 
well understood by voters. Voting for two or three councillors under whole-
council elections could cause confusion; 

Page 27



 Allows judgement of a council annually rather than every four years and 
allows the electorate to react sooner to local circumstances, thereby 
providing more immediate political accountability;

 Regular booking of polling facilities and use of staff on election duties 
increases effectiveness of training and retention of polling facilities;

 Electors are familiar with an election every year and a change to whole-
council elections is likely to cause confusion; and

 In 2 out of the 3 years the cost of the local election will be part funded by a 
Parliamentary election. In 2019/20 this will be a 50% cost for a local 
election.  In 2020/21 this will be approximately 33% cost as there will be 
three elections scheduled.

Weaknesses:

 Current system encourages short-term thinking and lack of planning; and
 Costs of holding elections in three out of every four years.  However, if 

whole elections were held in 2017 the local election costs will be funded in 
full by the local authority for 2017 and 2021 as there is no scheduled 
Parliamentary election.

The cost of running local elections

3.6 Under the current system of electing by thirds, the cost of running a local 
election has been estimated as follows:

 Local election, not combined with another 
election (see 2018 on the current timetable of 
elections)

£200,000

 Local election, combined with another election 
(see 2016 and 2019 on the current timetable of 
elections)

£120,000

 Local election, combined with two other 
elections (see 2020 on the current timetable of 
elections)

£100,000

3.7 The cost of running a whole-council local election has been estimated as 
follows:

 Local election, not combined with another 
election (2017 and 2021 on the proposed 
revised timetable)

£230,000

3.8 If the council moved to whole-council elections from May 2017, and every four 
years thereafter, the next scheduled local election would take place in 2021. It 
should be noted that the local elections would not be combined with the 
Parliamentary elections.

Page 28



3.9 It has been estimated that, under the current system of electing by thirds, the 
cost of holding local elections in each applicable year from 2016 to 2021 will 
be in the region of £540,000.

Cost 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 Estimate 
cost to 
2020/21

Local - Local Local Local

- - - - General

- - - European -

PCC 
(Police Crime 

and 
Commissioner)

- - - PCC

Cost to 
Local 

Authority

120,000 0 200,000 120,000 100,000 £540,000

Referendum before end 
2017

3.10 The estimated cost of holding local elections in the same time period under a 
whole-council system would be in the region of £350,000, an estimated saving 
of £190,000 as shown below:

Cost 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 Estimate 
cost to 
2020/21

Local

(by thirds)

Local (whole 
council)

-

- - - - General

Possible 
Referendum

Possible 
Referendum 
before end 

2017

- European -

PCC - - - PCC

Cost to 
Local 

Authority

120,000 230,000 0 0 0 £350,000

Page 29



By-elections (and associated costs)

3.11 The term of office of a councillor is four years. A by-election is required when 
a vacancy on the council has to be filled between regularly scheduled 
elections.

3.12 The cost of holding a by-election to fill a single vacancy has been estimated in 
previous reports as between £10-12,000.  The recent by election for West 
Thurrock & South Stifford in September 2015 cost approximately £13,000.  A 
by election in a ward with temporary polling stations (for example The 
Homesteads) would be around £20,000. 

West Thurrock 
& South 

Stifford (2015)

Staffing £4,500
Buildings £550
Postal voting £950
Ballot papers & Postal Packs £1,434
Poll cards & postage £4,358
Miscellaneous £1,000

Total £12,792

Implications of any change on the running and management of already 
scheduled elections

3.13 The practical impact of organising separate elections on the same day needs 
to be considered carefully, particularly if the scale of the local election was to 
increase owing to a move to the full council being elected rather than a third of 
members of the authority.

3.14 The turnout figures for local elections are likely to be boosted by association 
with a high profile election. However, that association could obscure local 
issues for voters when casting their vote in the local elections.  Whole council 
elections from 2017 would not schedule the local elections in line with a 
national election.

3.15 Considerable expertise and organisation will be required to ensure these 
crucial events are run well. The risk to the council’s reputation is substantial, 
so the professionalism and experience of staff in producing a transparent and 
accurate result is crucial.

3.16 A change to the electoral cycle in 2017, or a year thereafter, is likely to have 
the following implications:

 There is a high risk of elector confusion, as they will be asked to vote for 
more than one candidate when this has not previously been the case in 

Page 30



Thurrock. This could cause problems on the day of the election.  However 
Thurrock has many new communities who may be familiar with this 
approach.

 Staff  training will need to be reviewed and resources increased to ensure 
the nomination  process is managed effectively with the increase in 
candidate numbers and a change to ballot papers with voting for more 
than one candidate.  

 The cost of ballot papers will increase due to the increased number of 
candidates and potentially increase the number of ballot boxes required.

 The nomination process and timeframe will require additional staff 
resources to check and input nomination papers.

 Count venue costs and staffing costs may increase due to lengthened 
count process.

 There is a risk of rushing to implement any change in 2017.  Electoral 
Services and electors are adjusting to Individual Elector Registration (IER).  
Consultation may need to be resourced corporately and is likely to involve 
additional costs.

 Retention of staff knowledge and training on local elections may be difficult 
to sustain with a four year cycle.

 Electors will not be expecting an election in 2017. Considerable publicity 
and resources will be required to highlight a change to the electoral cycle 
and voting process within Thurrock.

Implications of any change on the work of Electoral Services

3.17 With the current cycle of elections, as shown in paragraph 3.2, Electoral 
Services will have one year where no elections are scheduled to be held, 
2017-18. Any change to the cycle of elections is likely to have implications for 
the work of the team.

3.18 It is important to note that throughout the course of any given year, the team 
continue to undertake vital work to support both the electoral registration and 
election process. Those years where an election is not scheduled to be held 
provide an opportunity for statutory and other more time-consuming project 
work to be undertaken. 

3.19 The types of work usually undertaken by the team are:

Statutory Annual Canvass:

 Canvass all households according to the current legislation. This is 
typically a 5 month project

 Publication of the revised register by 1 December each year

Compilation of the Register of Electors on behalf of the Electoral Registration 
Officer, including:

 Monthly updates by statutory dates

Page 31



 Maximising registration – data mining, tracking and inviting new residents 
to register, including statutory requirement to follow up non responders 
and personally visit non responding electors

 Accuracy of register – reviewing existing electors following receipt of 
information and removing from register if required

 Maintaining the property register
 Provision of data to credit agencies and other persons permitted to receive 

the register by legislation
 Reporting on performance standards to the Electoral Commission

Project work:

 Review of processes in non election years
 Refresh of paperwork including storage of forms / scanned images
 Audit and refresh of election equipment
 Statutory Absent Vote Refresh. This is typically a 3 month project
 Statutory Polling Place and District Reviews. This is typically a 4 month 

project at a minimum.  The next review must commence by October 2018.
 At any time there is the potential for By elections, Community Governance 

Reviews, Referendums and Council Tax referendums

3.20 A proactive approach is required by the Service throughout the year in order 
to maintain accurate and complete registers, ensuring as far as possible that 
all eligible persons are on the register and that all non eligible persons are 
removed.  The Electoral Registration Officer has a duty to maintain an 
accurate register and the service undertakes activity throughout the year to 
identify people who are not registered individually and encourage them to 
register.

3.21 The Service implemented Individual Elector Registration (IER) in 2014 and 
carried out the first annual canvass under IER in 2015.  2015/16 will be the 
first ‘normal’ year of operation under IER.  One implication of IER is the 
requirement to continuously data mine to identify electors who are not 
registered and send up to three reminders and personally canvass potential 
electors who do not respond to initial invitations.

Transition to whole council elections

3.22 If the council pass a resolution to move to whole-council elections, the term of 
office of all councillors will come to an end in May of that year, irrespective of 
the councillors’ length of service at that time. 

3.23 This will need to be explained to both serving councillors who have not served 
their full four year term of office, together with any candidates who wish to 
stand in a local election the year before a change to the electoral cycle comes 
into effect. This would therefore impact on the forthcoming local election in 
May 2016/17 and bring forward a local election in a year scheduled for no 
election (2017/18).

Page 32



Boundary Reviews

3.24 The Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) is 
responsible for conducting reviews for local government. 

3.25 Electoral reviews are a review of electoral arrangements of local authority and 
may include the number of councillors, the names, number and boundaries of 
wards and electoral divisions and the number of councillors to be elected to 
each.

3.26 An electoral review is initiated primarily to improve electoral equality and to 
ensure that as far as is reasonable the ratio of electors to councillors in each 
electoral ward or division is the same.

3.27 The commission is responsible for putting any changes to electoral 
arrangements into effect and does this by making a Statutory Instrument or 
Order.  The local authority then conducts local elections on the basis of the 
new arrangements set out in the order.

3.28 The electoral arrangements of every principal local authority in England must 
by law, be reviewed from time to time.  These reviews are known as periodic 
electoral reviews (PERs).  The Commission decide when there is a need to 
conduct a programme of such work.  The last round of PERs commenced in 
1996 and was completed in 2004.  The Commission is not currently 
undertaking PERs but has a rolling programme of electoral reviews 
undertaken for a number of different reasons.

3.29 The Commission undertake electoral reviews when the electoral variances in 
representation across a local authority become notable.  The criteria for 
initiating a review in those circumstances are as follows:

 more than 30% of a council’s wards/divisions having an electoral 
imbalance of more than 10% from the average ratio for that authority; 
and/or

 one or more wards/divisions with an electoral imbalance of more than 
30% and

 the imbalance is unlikely to be corrected by foreseeable changes to the 
electorate within a reasonable period.

3.30 To put this in to context within Thurrock, the Electoral Services Manager has 
provided an analysis of variances across the borough based on electorate figures 
in 2015.  The officer is not aware of the calculations used by the Commission; the 
figures and calculations used are one possible way to provide an analysis for 
debate and to put any request for a review in perspective.

3.31 For the purposes of this analysis, the 20 wards have been split into two and three 
member wards.  The average number of electors per councillor was calculated 

Page 33



based on whether the ward had two or three members. It was then possible to 
see how many electors were served by one member and what the variance was 
against the average variance.  These calculations are shown in Appendix 4.

3.32 The analysis provided that three of 20 wards had an average variance more than 
10%.  Three wards were more than the average whilst one ward (Tilbury St 
Chads) was under the average ratio.

3.33 The commission states that to initiate a review, more than 30% of a council’s 
wards should have an electoral imbalance of more than 10% from the average 
ratio for that authority.  By following this analysis the imbalance is only 15%.  This 
does not appear to meet the criteria outlined by the commission.

3.34 The other criteria for initiating a review is that one or more wards has an electoral 
imbalance of more than 30%.  The largest (negative) imbalance is within the ward 
of Chafford and North Stifford.  However, this ward is still below the 30% 
threshold by approximately 373 electors per member.

3.35 There is no upper limit in legislation regarding the number of councillors that 
may be returned from each ward or division.  However the Commission’s view 
is that wards or divisions returning more than three councillors results in a 
dilution of accountability to the electorate and they will not normally 
recommend a number above that figure.  There are currently no principal 
authority wards or divisions in England returning more than three councillors.

3.36 Members have requested information relating to the current boundaries for 
Thurrock and for officers to recommend changes.  Although this would be the 
remit of the Commission some context and statistics have been provided.  
Appendix 5 outlines a draft timeline and actions provided by the Commission.  
However, the analysis provided in Appendix 4 suggests that the criteria for 
requesting the Commission to carry out a review would not be met.

4. Reasons for Recommendation

4.1 At the request of the Chair of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, the report sets out the options to change the model of local 
government elections cycle in Thurrock and information on local government 
boundary reviews.

4.2 The Committee are requested to consider making a recommendation whether 
to progress the change the electoral cycle of the authority and so enable the 
council to take a decision and

4.3 The Committee are requested to discuss and debate the information provided 
on the terms of a boundary review and make recommendations.

5. Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny, if applicable)

5.1 There has been no consultation undertaken in respect of this report. 

Page 34



5.2 Should the Committee decide to make a recommendation to move to whole-
council elections, the council is required to take reasonable steps to consult 
with such persons as it thinks appropriate on the proposed change.

6. Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community 
impact

6.1 There is no impact at this stage. Any proposal to change the cycle of elections 
will be the subject of a report to the full council and, if approved, will also be 
subject to public consultation.

7. Implications

7.1 Financial

Implications verified by: Jonathan Wilson
Chief Accountant

The cost of an election is met by the body or bodies whose representatives 
have been elected and therefore, any occasion where a local election is 
combined with another would see a reduction in costs to the council.

The costs associated with running an election and a by-election have been 
estimated and are set out in the report. Any move to whole council elections 
would generate an estimated saving of £190,000 over the next 4 years.

Any savings that may be associated with a proposal to change the cycle of 
elections would be dependent upon the year in which the new cycle was to 
commence, as this would determine when local elections may be combined 
with others and therefore see a reduction in costs.

7.2 Legal

Implications verified by: David Lawson
Monitoring Officer and Deputy Head of Legal & 
Governance

The legal implications associated with changing the electoral cycle of the 
Council are set out in the body of the report.
It may be observed that the financial impact is dependent on the combination 
of polls and thware election cycle of Parliamentary elections which are fixed in 
law.  Whilst savings may be achieved there will be a budget impact initially if 
the electoral cycle is changed to whole council elections pursuant to any 
relevant governance change  in this respect . 

7.3 Diversity and Equality

Page 35



Implications verified by: Natalie Warren
Community Development and Equalities 
Manager

Under the Equality Act 2010, Section 149, a public authority must, in the 
exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to:

 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other 
conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act;

 advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;

 foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.

In considering this report, Members must consider whether the decision will or 
could have a differential impact on: racial groups; gender; people with 
disabilities; people of a particular sexual orientation; people due to their age; 
people due to their religious belief.

An Equality Impact Assessment has not been undertaken in respect of this 
report and this is because it is not considered that there will be an adverse 
impact arising from changing the cycle of elections held by the Council. 
However, if a decision is taken to change the cycle of elections, an Equality 
Impact Assessment will be conducted to help inform the implementation of 
this decision.

7.4 Other implications (where significant) – i.e. Staff, Health, Sustainability, 
Crime and Disorder)

None

8. Background papers used in preparing the report (including their location 
on the Council’s website or identification whether any are exempt or protected 
by copyright):

 No Stone Unturned in Pursuit of Growth. Lord Heseltine. 2012 
(recommendation 14)
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/
34648/12-1213-no-stone-unturned-in-pursuit-of-growth.pdf 

 The Local Government Boundary Commission for England – Electoral 
Reviews, Technical Guidance April 2014
https://www.lgbce.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/10410/technical-
guidance-2014.pdf 

9. Appendices to the report

Page 36

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/34648/12-1213-no-stone-unturned-in-pursuit-of-growth.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/34648/12-1213-no-stone-unturned-in-pursuit-of-growth.pdf
https://www.lgbce.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/10410/technical-guidance-2014.pdf
https://www.lgbce.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/10410/technical-guidance-2014.pdf


 Appendix 1 – Excerpt of the minutes of the Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee – 20 March 2014

 Appendix 2 – Motion submitted by Councillor Hebb to the meeting of Full 
Council on 22 October 2014

 Appendix 3 – Excerpt of the minutes of the meeting of Full Council, 22 
October 2014.

 Appendix 4 – Boundary Analysis 2015
 Appendix 5 – Stages for a Requested Electoral Review

Report Author:

Elaine Sheridan 
Electoral Services Manager
Legal Services, Democratic and Electoral Services

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 to Corporate O&S Report – 2 February 2016 

EXCERPT OF MINUTES of the meeting of the Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee held on 20 March 2014 at 7.00pm
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Present: Councillors Richard Speight (Chair), Barry Johnson, 
Wendy Curtis, Terry Hipsey and Yash Gupta 

Apologies:             Councillor Charlie Key 

In attendance: S. Welton- Performance Officer
K. Wheeler – Head of Strategy 
F. Taylor – Head of Legal Services 
S. Clark– Head of Finance
R. Harris – Director of Adults, Health and Commissioning 
J. Hinchliffe – Head of HR OD & Customer Strategy
R. Parkin – Head of Housing 
M. Boulter – Principal Democratic Services Officer 

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

37.      REVIEW OF ELECTORAL ARRANGEMENTS

The Committee noted that two thirds of the whole council membership 
needed to vote in favour of a four yearly election for it to come into 
practice. Members queried the process should certain Members not be 
present at the full council meeting in which the vote would be taken. 
How would they cast their vote? The Monitoring Officer noted this point 
and stated she would come back to the committee to clarify.

The Committee noted the well written report but felt they could not 
make a decision at the meeting as the issue needed to be discussed 
with groups. There were many implications to consider. 

The Committee asked for clarification around when the Police Crime 
Commissioner elections would take place and whether they would be 
held in November or with the other elections in May. 

RESOLVED that the Committee inform and update their respective 
groups around the report and its contents and seek to progress 
debate on the issue in the new municipal year. 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2 to Corporate O&S Report – 2 February 2016 

Motions Submitted to Council 

In accordance with Chapter 2, Part 2 (Rule 15) of the Council’s 
Constitution

Motion 2

Submitted by Councillor Hebb

“Thurrock is an area which is thirsty for regeneration, and needs political 
stability to attract investment. It therefore needs to demonstrate a more stable; 
consistent; lower-cost governance system.

Following a number of years of being in No Overall Control (NOC) Thurrock 
Council resolves to investigate and implement a move to a Four Yearly 
Election model”.

Monitoring Officer Comments:

Before 2008, the process of changing the electoral cycle involved seeking 
the approval of the Secretary of State.

The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007  gave 
Councils the opportunity to decide this issue themselves, subject to 
certain restrictions as to when whole-Council elections could take place.

The Localism Act 2011 amended the provisions of the 2007 Act to give 
greater ability to Councils to decide which year the system of whole-
Council elections could be introduced.

The 2007 Act sets out the steps that would need to be taken to move to 
whole- Council elections.  The Council would be required to undertake a 
public consultation exercise on the proposed change.  The legislation 
does not specify the type of consultation that should be carried out or how 
long the consultation process should take.  

However, the good practice guidance on consultation exercises suggests 
that a 12 week consultation period would be appropriate.

Following the conclusion of the consultation period, if it is decided to 
move to all-out elections, an Extraordinary Council meeting will be 
needed to pass a resolution to change to whole-Council elections.

There is a requirement that the resolution must be passed “by a majority 
of at least two thirds of the Members voting on it” (Section 33 (3)(b) of the 
2007 Act).  The resolution would need to specify the year the elections 
would first be held.

Page 41



If, at the Extraordinary Council meeting, it is decided to move to whole-
Council elections, then as soon as reasonably practicable, an explanatory 
document has to be produced setting out details of the new electoral 
arrangements.  In addition, the Electoral Commission would need to be 
advised that the Council has passed a resolution to change to all-out 
elections.

Section 151 Officer Comments:

The subject of this motion has previously been considered by Overview and 
Scrutiny with the report demonstrating that a four yearly model did reduce the 
overall cost over the four year period. The total amount is difficult to estimate 
with any accuracy as it depends on whether there are any by-elections, timing 
of other elections, etc. However, the Overview and Scrutiny report did provide 
an estimated saving of £380,000 over the period 2015-2020 as an indication.

Is the above motion within the remit of Council to approve? 

Yes

Page 42



EXCERPT of the Minutes of the meeting of Council held on 22 October 2014 at 
7.00pm.

67. Motion submitted by Councillor Hebb

The Motion, as printed in the Agenda, was proposed by Councillor Hebb and 
seconded by Councillor Halden. The Motion read as follows:

“Thurrock is an area which is thirsty for regeneration, and needs political 
stability to attract investment. It therefore needs to demonstrate a more stable; 
consistent; lower-cost governance system.

Following a number of years of being in No Overall Control (NOC) Thurrock 
Council resolves to investigate and implement a move to a Four Yearly 
Election model”.

Councillor Hebb introduced the motion and in doing so made the following key 
points:

 That a four year election model would make Thurrock more stable and 
allow time for the ruling group to drive forward and embed their 
policies. 

 That a move to a four year election model would save approximately 
£400,000 to the Council every four years. 

 That it would improve political turnout and engagement. 

During the course of debate on the Motion, the following key points were 
raised both in support and opposition:

 Councillor Gerard Rice felt that in his experience a 4 year election 
model did not work well or was in the best interests of the electorate, 
and recounted that some political groups had become complacent for 3 
years out of 4 after winning an election. He felt that the current model 
provided more opportunity for challenge. 

 Councillor Speight remarked on the achievements in Thurrock and felt 
that the electorate wanted more cross-party working not shutting 
people’s voices out for an additional year.

 Councillor John Kent questioned how elections by thirds created 
instability, and highlighted a number of regeneration success stories 
which had been achieved under the current model. He felt that the 
election by thirds model provided stability.

 Councillor Ray agreed that regeneration was important but felt that the 
political balance had little effect.  He added that there was no evidence 
to support the claim that a 4 year election model was good for residents 
and instead stated that it was of paramount importance to let residents 
have their say. 

 Councillor Johnson felt that there would be greater turnout on general 
election years and that a 4 year election model supported zero based 
budgeting. 

APPENDIX 3 to Corporate O&S Report – 2 February 2016 

Page 43



 Councillor Coxshall felt that the 4 year election model would give more 
time for policies to embed and for the political majority to deliver their 
manifesto. 

 Councillor Snell explained that the 4 year model would give residents 
less of a voice and that the current system worked well to keep 
Members on their toes. 

Upon being put to the vote, 15 Members voted in favour of the Motion, and 30 
Members voted against, whereupon the Mayor declared the motion was lost. 

Page 44



Appendix 4

Boundary Review - Analysis

Electorate 

per ward

** Average 

ratio for 2015  

(61258/27 

cllrs)

10% 

variance

No. 

Electors 

per cllr 

2015

Variance 

2015

1 Aveley & Uplands 6632 2269 227 2211 -58

2 Belhus 6739 2269 227 2246 -23

3 Chadwell St Mary 7042 2269 227 2347 78

7 Grays Riverside 7256 2269 227 2419 150

8 Grays Thurrock 6265 2269 227 2088 -181

11 Ockendon 7012 2269 227 2337 68

14 Stanford East & Corringham Town 6355 2269 227 2118 -151

17 The Homesteads 6447 2269 227 2149 -120

20 West Thurrock & South Stifford 7510 2269 227 2503 234

61258

** total electorate of all three member wards divided by no. of three member wards

Electorate 

per ward

***1   Average 

ratio for 2015 

(50637/22)

10% 

variance

No. 

Electors 

per cllr 

2015

Variance  

2015

30% variance

4 Chafford & North Stifford 5238 2302 230 2619 317 691

5 Corringham & Fobbing 4334 2302 230 2167 -135

6 East Tilbury 4594 2302 230 2297 -5

9 Little Thurrock Blackshot 4702 2302 230 2351 49

10 Little Thurrock Rectory 4481 2302 230 2241 -62

12 Orsett 4842 2302 230 2421 119

13 South Chafford 4562 2302 230 2281 -21

15 Stanford le Hope West 4580 2302 230 2290 -12

16 Stifford Clays 5066 2302 230 2533 231

18 Tilbury Riverside & Thurrock Park 4255 2302 230 2128 -175

19 Tilbury St Chads 3983 2302 230 1992 -311

50637

***1   Total electorate of all two member wards divided by no. of two member wards

Three member wards

Two member wards

Page 45

jshade
Text Box

jshade_1
Text Box
APPENDIX 4 to Corporate O&S Report  - 2 February 2016



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 5 to Corporate O&S Report – 2 February 2016 

Stages for a Requested Electoral Review

Stage Action Duration*
Before agreeing to the 
Review

Commission will meet with Chief Executive and 
Leader of the council to establish

 The reason for the request
 The likely scope of the review
 The commitment and capacity of the 

council to meet the requirements for 
information in a timely manner

If agreed:
Preliminary Period Informal dialogue with local authority.  Focus on 

gathering preliminary information including 
electorate forecasts and other electoral data.  
Commissioner-level involvement in briefing group 
leaders on the issue of council size.  Meetings also 
held with officers, group leaders, full council and, 
where applicable, parish and town councils.  At the 
end of this process, the council under review and 
its political groups should submit their council size 
proposals for the Commission to consider.

Up to 6 
months in 
advance of 
formal start of 
review

Council size decision Commission analyses submissions from local 
authority and /or political groups on council size 
and takes a ‘minded to’ decision on council size.

5 weeks

Formal start of review
Consultation on future 
warding / division 
arrangements

The Commission publishes its initial conclusions on 
council size.  General invitation to submit 
warding/division proposals based on Commissions’ 
conclusions on council size.

12 weeks

Development of draft 
recommendations

Analysis of all representations received.  The 
commission reaches conclusions on its draft 
recommendations.

12 weeks

Consultation on draft 
recommendations

Publication of draft recommendations and public 
consultation on them.

8 weeks

Further consultation (if 
required)

Further consultation only takes place where the 
Commission is minded to make significant changes 
to its draft recommendations and where it lacks 
sufficient evidence of local views in relation to 
those changes.

Up to 5 weeks

Development of final 
recommendations

Analysis of all representations received.  The 
Commission reaches conclusions on its final 
recommendations.

12 weeks

* Time periods shows are the expected typical duration of stages.  They are not standards or undertakings.  The progress of a review 
will be determined by the nature of the issues to be addressed and the availability of information to underpin sound decision-making, 
not by a determination to complete a review within any given period.

Source: Electoral reviews, Technical guidance, April 2014
The Local Government Boundary Commission for England

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



7 December 2016 ITEM:    5

General Services Committee

Review of Electoral Arrangements

Wards and communities affected: 
All

Key Decision: 
Key

Report of: David Lawson, Monitoring Officer

Accountable Head of Service: David Lawson, Monitoring Officer

Accountable Director: Lyn Carpenter, Chief Executive

This report is Public

Executive Summary

On 27th July 2016, a report from Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee was 
considered by Council which provided advice on the Council’s ability to opt for 
whole-council elections rather than by the current method of elections by thirds and 
recommended that a public consultation exercise be undertaken.  A copy of that 
report is attached at Appendix 1. 

Council noted its ability to alter the electoral pattern for this authority, and asked that 
a consultation be undertaken to ascertain public preference for either continuing to 
elect councillors by thirds or move to whole council elections every fourth year with 
effect from May 2018. This report provides background information to enable 
General Services Committee to exercise, within its terms of reference, the functions 
of Council in relation to elections and agree the format and detail of the proposed 
statutory consultation on behalf of Council.

1. Recommendation(s)

1.1 That the consultation process, timeline and format set out in this report 
and Appendix 2 be approved;

1.2 To note that a Special meeting of the Council will need to be convened 
by November 2017 in order for Council to consider the results of the 
consultation and determine proposals for any change in its electoral 
governance arrangements; and

1.3 That a report be brought to General Services Committee to consider the 
results of the consultation and make a recommendation to be 
considered by Full Council.

APPENDIX 2

Page 49



2. Introduction and Background

2.1 Under the provisions of the Local Government and Public Involvement in
Health Act 2007, councils such as Thurrock that elect by thirds can move
to whole-council elections by passing a resolution at a special meeting of the
Full Council. The resolution will only be deemed carried if there are two-thirds 
majority of those voting vote in favour of a proposed change to the electoral 
cycle. 

2.2 Therefore if an authority wishes to move from thirds to whole-council 
elections, it must:

a) Consult such persons as it thinks appropriate on the proposed change;
b) Convene a special meeting of Council;
c) Pass a resolution to change by a two-thirds majority of those voting;
d) Publish an explanatory document on the decision and make this 

available for public inspection; and
e) Give notice to the Electoral Commission. 

Proposed Methodology for Consultation

2.3 Councils undertaking such consultation must consult such persons as the 
Council thinks appropriate on the proposed change and have regard to the 
outcome of the consultation before making a decision at the special meeting 
of the Council. The consultation should last for a minimum period of 12 
weeks.

2.4 It is recommended that the consultation exercise is designed so that the 
public and other stakeholders have a full opportunity to express their views on 
the options available.

2.5 It is proposed that this consultation is primarily undertaken by way of an on-
line questionnaire with hard copies made available for anyone without internet 
access. The draft format is set out in Appendix 2. 

2.6 The on-line questionnaire would include:

 Information on the current electoral governance arrangements;
 Information on the proposed changes together with an explanation of the 

impact of change;
 Arguments for and against the changes;
 The choice of ‘tick’ boxes for the respondent to indicate their preferred 

options;
 A question to indicate if they are completing the questionnaire in the 

capacity of a local resident, local business or as a representative of a 
group or organisation;

 Basic demographic information such as gender and age;
 Deadline for completion.

Page 50



2.7 Questionnaires would also be available on request at Council venues such as 
the Civic Offices, leisure centres, community hubs and libraries.

2.8 Communication of the consultation will be primarily through the following 
targeted and public channels (a more detailed explanation of the suggested 
communications plan is at Appendix 3):

 Links to an on-line questionnaire would be sent to the business 
community via the Business Board and Chamber of Commerce, to 
community groups and tenants’ and residents’ groups through the 
Council’s existing communications networks and CVS. 

 Links would also be sent to other stakeholders such as the MPs, MEPs, 
NHS, Essex Police and Thurrock Colleges. 

 Wider communication through press releases to be picked up and 
covered by local media outlets, social media promotion through various 
council-owned Twitter feeds and Facebook pages, pointing people to the 
online surveys. 

 A short explanation of the reasons for the consultation, how to complete 
the online questionnaire or obtain a hard copy could also be sent out with 
the annual Council Tax notification.

2.9 Feedback would be provided at the end of the consultation via the Council’s
website, and by using the Council’s existing communication networks for other
community and interest groups.

2.10 It is also proposed that information is sought from councils who have changed
their electoral cycle to whole-council elections.

2.11 An analysis of the results from the consultation would be included in a further 
report from the General Services Committee to a Special Council meeting to 
be held before the end of November 2017 to allow sufficient time for any 
implementation of a change before the May 2018 elections.

Timing

2.12 The consultation should last for a period of at least 12 weeks, factor in time for 
the outcomes to be assessed and for a further report to be brought to Full 
Council by November 2017 to allow time for implementation before the May 
2018 elections, should there be a recommendation in favour of change. It is 
proposed that the consultation starts in January 2017.

3. Issues, Options and Analysis of Options

3.1 The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act received Royal
Assent in December 2007. The Council is required to follow the process
prescribed within the Act. The option not to consult is, therefore, not available.

Page 51



4. Reasons for Recommendation

4.1 To progress the resolution of Council to consult on the proposal for changing 
the electoral cycle from elections by thirds to whole-Council elections before 
making a decision.

5. Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny, if applicable)

5.1 As set out in the report.

6. Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community 
impact

6.1 Becoming an excellent and high performing organisation. 

7. Implications

7.1 Financial

Implications verified by: Laura Last
Senior Finance Officer

The cost of an election is met by the body or bodies whose representatives 
have been elected and therefore, any occasion where a local election is 
combined with another would see a reduction in costs to the council.

Any move to whole council elections would generate an estimated saving of 
£190,000 over the next 4 years.

Any savings that may be associated with a proposal to change the cycle of 
elections would be dependent upon the year in which the new cycle was to 
commence, as this would determine when local elections may be combined 
with others and therefore see a reduction in costs.

The savings achieved by the proposed changes to the electoral arrangements 
would contribute towards meeting the Council’s budgetary challenges.

The estimated cost of the consultation and associated communications would 
be £3,000.

7.2 Legal

Implications verified by: Lindsey Marks
Deputy Monitoring Officer 

The legal implications are addressed in the report as to the requirements of 
the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (as 
amended).

Page 52



7.3 Diversity and Equality

Implications verified by: Natalie Warren
Community Development Manager

An equality impact assessment of the approach to the consultation and 
associated communication will be undertaken. The consultation is open to all 
residents, businesses and other stakeholders with provision made for those 
who are unable to access this online. This will allow all interested parties to 
have a say in how the council should run the electoral process going forward.

7.4 Other implications (where significant) – i.e. Staff, Health, Sustainability, 
Crime and Disorder)

None.

8. Background papers used in preparing the report (including their location 
on the Council’s website or identification whether any are exempt or protected 
by copyright):

 The Cycle of Local Government Elections in England – Consultation Paper 
– Electoral Commission (2003)

 The Cycle of Local Government Elections in England – Recommendations 
for change - Electoral Commission (2004)

 The Economic Development and Construction Act 2009
 Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007
 Localism Act 2011
 Local Government Boundary Commission for England – Electoral Reviews 

(2014)

9. Appendices to the report

Appendix 1 – Review of Electoral Arrangements Council July 2016 – SEE 
PAGES 13 TO 47 OF THE MAIN REPORT 
Appendix 2 - Proposed consultation 
Appendix 3 – Proposed outline communication plan

Report Author:

David Lawson
Monitoring Officer
Law & Governance

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2 to GSC Report – 7 December 2016

Thurrock Council
Have your say on how often we hold elections
In November 2017 Thurrock Council will decide whether to change the way councillors are elected 
in Thurrock. The decision affects everyone who lives or works in the borough, so we would like 
you to have your say.

How it currently works

Thurrock has 49 councillors and 20 wards, with 2 or 3 councillors representing each ward. 
Councillors are elected to serve for 4 years, after which a new election must be held. These 
arrangements will not change.

Currently we hold elections in 3 out of every 4 years, with a third of all councillors being elected or 
re-elected during an election year. There are no elections during the fourth year. This means that 
during 3 out of every 4 years the political balance of the council may change.

How it could change

We could continue to hold elections for a third of all councillors in 3 out of every 4 years, or we 
could change so that all councillors are elected at the same time, once every 4 years.

If this change was made, the election of all 49 councillors would first take place in 2018, and then 
every fourth year after that.

The timing of other elections – like the general election for members of parliament, and elections 
for the Police and Crime Commissioner – will not be affected as they are decided nationally.

What it means

No one can predict the outcome of elections and who will be elected. But based on the experience 
of other councils, keeping the current system or changing could mean the following:

Current process for electing a third of all councillors every 3 years out of 4

 only one third of councillors would change at any one time
 the political make-up of the council is more likely to change over a period of time
 it's easier for independent candidates to stand as fewer seats are contested

Changing to an election for all councillors at the same time, once every four years

 voters can change the political make-up of the council in a single election
 there is more likely to be political stability which enables longer-term planning
 the cost to the council of holding elections is reduced 
 the number of people who cast their vote may increase 

Page 55



Have your say

Do you think Thurrock Council should:

a)  elect one third of councillors at a time, 3 years out of 4
b)  elect all councillors at the same time, once every 4 years

What are the reasons for your preference?

About you

You do not need to complete this section, but answering the questions below will help us to 
see whether there are differences in views between different areas.

Please tick all that apply – are you responding as:

a)  a resident
b)  on behalf of a business
c)  on behalf of a community group or organisation
d)  on behalf of one of our partners
e)  other – please state below:

What is your postcode?

Thank you 

You can have your say over a 12 week period from Monday 9 January to Friday 31 March 2017.

No decisions will be made without taking into account a wide range of views. These arrangements 
are fundamental to our local democracy, so it is important that local people, businesses and our 
partners can make their opinions known.

The final decision will be taken by Council in November 2017. If new arrangements are agreed, 
they would be introduced in May 2018.

If you have any questions, please email direct.democracy@thurrock.gov.uk.

Page 56

mailto:direct.democracy@thurrock.gov.uk


APPENDIX 3 to GSC Report – 7 December 2016 

Review of Electoral Arrangements Consultation – Communications
Campaign duration 12 Weeks (Monday 9 January 2017 – Friday 31 March 2017)

Poster campaign 
Posters to promote the consultation will feature in all council buildings including libraries/hubs, Council 
Offices, Thameside complex, housing complexes, bus stops. Posters will also be sent to stakeholders 
for display on their premises. 

Press advertising
Three half page adverts (four weekly) to run in the Thurrock Gazette. They will feature in prominent 
positions near the front of the newspaper. We will also run online banner ads with a direct click 
through to the consultation.

Thurrock News
Consultation coincides with three issues of the recently launched Thurrock News e-newsletter and the 
consultation will feature prominently. The number of current subscribers is around 11,000, which is 
expected to rise before the start of the consultation.

Media
There will be press activity in the run up to and throughout the consultation. A press release will be 
issued to launch the consultation, one halfway through to comment on response levels, and a release 
before the end to remind residents to have their say.

Social Media (free)
Twitter and Facebook activity will be planned in the run-up to the start of the consultation and 
throughout the 12 weeks. Posts will be at different times of the day to ensure the maximum exposure 
in line with people’s social engagement habits.

Social Media (paid for)
Paid for Facebook adverts will be targeted to those in Thurrock and immediate surrounding area. As 
well as providing a way for people to respond to the consultation directly, it will also raise general 
awareness.

Thurrock Council website (including My Account)
The consultation will feature on the home page of the Thurrock Council website, inviting people to 
have their say. There will also be a ‘landing’ page when residents log into My Account, directing them 
to take part in the consultation.

Council Tax leaflet
The Council Tax annual bill is sent to every household in early March. This will also be used to remind 
residents of the consultation.

Internal
Internal channels will be fully utilised to ensure the staff at Thurrock Council are informed and 
engaged through internal poster sites, Insight, Inform and Thurrock Manager newsletter.

Community Forums
Community Forums will be engaged across the borough to get involved and debate electoral 
arrangements. The forums could then either submit a response on behalf of the forum or share the 
information with members and wider community. 

Stakeholder engagement
Business and community organisations based or have an interest in Thurrock will be engaged to 
respond as an organisation or disseminate information to their network. Some of the organisations 
who will be contacted are CVS, Thurrock Clinical Commissioning Group, Essex Police, Colleges and 
Sixth Forms, Thurrock Business Board, and Essex Federation of Small Businesses. Elected members 
of the council, UK Parliament and European Parliament representing the area will also be sent links to 
the consultation.
Approximate cost: £3,000

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



3 May 2017 ITEM:    7

General Services Committee

Review of Electoral Arrangements – Outcome of Public 
Consultation
Wards and communities affected: 
All

Key Decision: 
Key

Report of: David Lawson, Monitoring Officer

Accountable Head of Service: David Lawson, Monitoring Officer

Accountable Director: Lyn Carpenter, Chief Executive

This report is Public

Executive Summary

On 7 December 2016, General Services Committee, in accord with its terms of 
reference, agreed the process, format and detail of a proposed public consultation 
on the principal of changing the Council’s electoral cycle. A reference link to that 
earlier report to the Committee is contained in the background papers. This was 
pursuant to an earlier resolution of Full Council on 27 July 2016 requesting that such 
a consultation should be undertaken to ascertain public preference for either 
continuing to elect councillors by thirds or move to whole council elections in May 
2018. 

This report provides an analysis as to the outcome of that public consultation to 
assist the Committee with its remit under paragraph 9 of its terms of reference, “to 
make recommendations to the Council in respect of any change to the electoral 
arrangements for the authority.”

1. Recommendation(s)

1.1 That General Services Committee note the result of the public 
consultation and make a recommendation to a Special meeting of Full 
Council on whether to continue to elect councillors by thirds or move to 
whole Council elections in May 2018;

1.2 To note that a Special meeting of Full Council will need to be convened 
in the next few months and no later than November 2017 to consider the 
Committee’ recommendations and the results of the consultation for 
Full Council to determine any change in its electoral governance 
arrangements.

APPENDIX 3

Page 59



2. Introduction and Background

2.1 Under the provisions of the Local Government and Public Involvement in
Health Act 2007, councils such as Thurrock that elect by thirds can move
to whole-council elections by passing a resolution at a special meeting of the
Full Council, the resolution will only be deemed carried if there are two-thirds
majority of those voting vote in favour of a proposed change to the electoral
cycle. 

2.2 Therefore if an authority wishes to move from thirds to whole-council 
elections, it must:

a. Consult such persons as it thinks appropriate on the proposed change;
b. Convene a special meeting of Council;
c. Pass a resolution to change by a two-thirds majority of those voting;
d. Publish an explanatory document on the decision and make this 

available for public inspection; and
e. Give notice to the Electoral Commission. 

Result of Consultation

2.3 Residents, businesses and organisations were asked whether they would like 
the current system of electing councillors to remain or if it should change to 
once every four years.

2.4 The consultation was open from Monday 9 January to Friday 31 March 2017 
and was promoted in line with the communications plan as agreed at the 
General Services Committee meeting held in December 2016. This included:

 Printed posters in council buildings including libraries and hubs
 Social media posts, with video and link to consultation including 

Facebook advertising 
 An advert each month in the Gazette newspaper
 Information on the front page of the leaflet included in council tax bills
 Press releases
 On the homepage of the council’s website
 Stakeholder engagement – via community forums, CVS and their 

community contacts, CCG and Essex Police, Business Board etc.
 Included in e-newsletter with 11,500 subscribers
 Email to all staff and councillors

2.5 After validation, the results of the consultation are as follows:

Page 60



Total responses 466

3 years out of 4 187 40.1%

Once every 4 years 279 59.9%

2.6 Respondents to the consultation were asked if they would like to offer any 
reasons for their preference. The most frequent reasons given are 
summarised below:

Elections to council for one third of councillors at a time, 3 years out of 
4 (current system)

 Experienced councillors can assist newly elected councillors
 Keeps politicians active
 No dramatic change in the council
 Prevents party with most money dominating
 Current system works well

Elections to council for all councillors at the same time, once every 4 
years (proposed new system)

 Allows for long-term planning and stability 
 More cost effective to the council
 Effective decision making
 Maintains political balance
 More public engagement and turnout 

Timing

2.7 The consultation lasted for a period of 12 weeks, the outcomes have been 
assessed and validated in line with standard procedures for such 
consultations and petitions. The consultation was open rather than using a 
methodology that would ensure the results are statistically representative of 
the Thurrock population. The response rate is therefore low compared to the 
population overall. 

2.8 A report containing the Committee recommendations and the results of the 
consultation now needs to be brought to a Special meeting of Full Council in 
the next few months and no later than November 2017 to allow sufficient time 
for any implementation before the May 2018 elections, should there be a 
recommendation in favour of change.

3. Issues, Options and Analysis of Options

3.1 The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act received Royal
Assent in December 2007. The Council is required to follow the process
prescribed within the Act. The option not to consult was, therefore, not 
available. It is the role of the Committee under Paragraph 9 of its terms of 
reference, “to make recommendations to the Council in respect of any change 

Page 61



to the electoral arrangements for the authority.” It is the function of Full 
Council to decide on any change or otherwise at a Special meeting of Council, 
with any decision to change the election cycle requiring a two thirds majority. 
Such a Special meeting could be held immediately before an Ordinary 
meeting of Full Council with the Ordinary meeting being expressed to, 
“commence at 7 pm or on the rising of the Special Meeting of the same date” 
if this is thought convenient.

4. Reasons for Recommendation

4.1 To progress the resolution of Council to consult on the proposal for changing 
the electoral cycle from elections by thirds to whole-Council elections before 
making a decision.

5. Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny, if applicable)

5.1 As set out in the report.

6. Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community 
impact

6.1 Becoming an excellent and high performing organisation. 

7. Implications

7.1 Financial

Implications verified by: Laura Last
Management Accountant 

The cost of an election is met by the body or bodies whose representatives 
have been elected and therefore, any occasion where a local election is 
combined with another would see a reduction in costs to the council.

The average cost of an election by thirds, where the costs are not shared with 
any other election, is £180k and so £540k over a four year period.  An all out 
election is estimated at £230k and so would recognise a cost reduction of 
£310k over the same period.

The above would be reduced if combined with any other election whilst it 
should be recognised that all out elections can increase the need for by-
elections and associated costs.

7.2 Legal

Implications verified by: Lindsey Marks
Deputy Monitoring Officer 

Page 62



The legal implications are addressed in the report as to the requirements of 
the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (as 
amended).

7.3 Diversity and Equality

Implications verified by: David Lawson
Monitoring Officer

None.

7.4 Other implications (where significant) – i.e. Staff, Health, Sustainability, 
Crime and Disorder)

None.

8. Background papers used in preparing the report (including their location 
on the Council’s website or identification whether any are exempt or protected 
by copyright):

 The Cycle of Local Government Elections in England – Consultation Paper 
– Electoral Commission (2003)

 The Cycle of Local Government Elections in England – Recommendations 
for change - Electoral Commission (2004)

 The Economic Development and Construction Act 2009
 Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007
 Localism Act 2011
 Local Government Boundary Commission for England – Electoral Reviews 

(2014)

Report to General Services Committee – 7 December 2016 – Web link: 

http://democracy.thurrock.gov.uk/documents/s10691/Review%20of%20Electo
ral%20Arrangements.pdf

9. Appendices to the report

None

Report Author:

David Lawson
Monitoring Officer
Law & Governance

Page 63

http://democracy.thurrock.gov.uk/documents/s10691/Review%20of%20Electoral%20Arrangements.pdf
http://democracy.thurrock.gov.uk/documents/s10691/Review%20of%20Electoral%20Arrangements.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Extract from the Minutes of the Meeting of the General Services Committee 
held on 3 May 2017 at 7.00 pm

Present: Councillors Robert Gledhill, Shane Hebb, Mark Coxshall, 
Barbara Rice, Elaine Sheridan (Substitute for Roy Jones) and 
Graham Snell

Apologies: Councillors John Kent and Roy Jones

In attendance: Mr Roger Hirst, Police Crime Commissioner for Essex
Lyn Carpenter, Chief Executive
Jackie Hinchliffe, Director of HR, OD & Transformation
David Lawson, Deputy Head of Legal & Monitoring Officer
Karen Wheeler, Director of Strategy, Communications and 
Customer Service
Matthew Boulter, Democratic Services Manager

 

22. Review of Electoral Arrangements - Outcome of Public Consultation 

The Monitoring Officer introduced the report stating it represented the 
outcome of the twelve week public consultation. The Chair noted that 60% of 
respondents were in favour of the change to four yearly elections with 40% 
favouring the current system of election in thirds. Councillor Rice and Snell 
both highlighted that the response rate was incredibly low and if the 
responses of councillors and their close contacts were removed, then the 
response was even lower. 

The committee recognised this fact but Councillor Coxshall suggested that 
governance and elections would not be a popular or engaging subject for the 
electorate and only those specifically interested in it may engage in the 
consultation. 

Councillor Rice felt four yearly elections could lead to political parties 
struggling for quality candidates but other Members felt this was an issue for 
the parties and that the electorate would ultimately decide the quality of the 
candidate through the vote. There was discussion on whether four yearly 
elections could result in a large inexperienced body of Members gaining office 
at once but it was counter argued that there was always Members who held 
onto their seats and therefore there would always be an experienced element 
in the chamber. 

Councillor Hebb highlighted the cost savings in changing electoral 
arrangements while Councillor Snell stated that a four yearly election did not 
guarantee an efficient decision making process as the election could still 
return a hung council. 

Page 65



In light of the varied nature of opinion the Chair requested a recorded vote on 
the recommendations. Councillors Snell, B. Rice and Sheridan voted in favour 
of elections in thirds (the current system) while Councillors Coxshall, Gledhill 
and Hebb voted in favour of four yearly elections. Cllr Gledhill cast his 
deciding vote as Chair in favour of four yearly elections.

RESOLVED: That:

1. The Committee note the result of the public consultation and 
recommend to a special Full Council the preferred option of four 
yearly elections.

2. The Committee note that a special meeting of Full Council will 
need to be convened in the next few months and no later than 
November 2017 to consider the Committee’s recommendations 
and the results of the consultation for Full Council to determine 
any change in its electoral governance arrangements. 

The meeting finished at 8.22 pm

Approved as a true and correct record

CHAIR

DATE

Any queries regarding these Minutes, please contact
Democratic Services at Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk

Page 66

mailto:Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk

	Agenda
	 
	3 Electoral Cycle
	Appendix 1 - Review of Electoral Arrangements Report to Full Council held on 27 July 2016 Council
	Appendix 1a - Review of the Electoral Arrangements and Existing Boundaries - Corporate O&S
	Appendix 1b - Appendix 1 - Excerpt of Minutes
	Appendix 1c - Appendix 2 - Motions Submitted to Council
	Appendix 1d - Appendix 3 - Excerpt of Minutes
	Appendix 1e - Appendix 4 - Boundary Analysis 2015
	Appendix 1f - Appendix 5  - Stages of a Requested Electoral Review
	Appendix 2 - Review of Electoral Arrangements Report to General Services Committee held on 7 December 2016
	Appendix 2 - Appendix 2 - Review of Electoral Arrangements
	Appendix 2 - Appendix 3 - Review of Electoral Arrangements
	Appendix 3 - Outcome of Public Consultation Report to General Services Committee and relevant minutes held 3 May 2017
	Appendix 3a - General Services Committee Extract from 3 May 2017  Minutes




